Forms and Transformations: William Butterfield
at Babbacombe —Nicholas Olsberg

The town of Torquay dates from the days when
its bay served as an anchorage in the French
Wars. By the 1830s it was well established

as aresort for the frail, and once the railway
came in 1848, it had 12,000 inhabitants and
over 2,000 guest apartments. To its north

was the village of Babbicombe, which lay above
rare seams of highly coloured carboniferous
limestone that could be polished to become
what was known, not quite rightly, as ‘Devon
marble’. William Butterfield was among the first
architects to deploy the marble architecturally,
inlaying it in the walls of his rebuilt church in
Yealmpton in 1849 and using it both structurally
and in mosaic for his font at the restored church
of Ottery St Mary, completed in 1850. It became
hugely fashionable for inlaid surfaces in the
1850s, when a table from the local quarries won
a gold medal at the Great Exhibition. By 1861
the roof of the new Oxford Museum of Natural
History was partly supported by neatly marked
Babbicombe, Ashburton and Marychurch columns
as models for modern building.

Trips to the Woodley and Blackler marble
works at Babbicombe now became a famous
part of visitors’ experience, but the village -
part of the parish of St Marychurch - remained
largely poor and ‘wild’, its people living by fickle
and dangerous employment on the seas or at
the quarries and marble works. A young curate
in the parish, John Hewitt, had taken spiritual
life in hand, running a mission chapel in the
village school, and dreaming of a new parish in
Babbacombe - the name changed to meet its
aspirations - with a church large enough to serve
what was rapidly becoming a little town, with
a hotel, villas and guest-houses above the cliffs,
and a very grand suburb of Torquay emerging
to the south. Butterfield was brought on board,

land was donated, and on September 1865, the
foundation stone was laid.

Its eventual scope - with festival seating for
close to a thousand, two large vestries, alarge
side cloister, stalls for a choir of 36 voices,
amassive organ chamber, a canopied bishop’s
chair, and a tower sturdy enough to carry and
ring a peal of eight bells - was the largest parish
church of Butterfield’s career. By November
1867, the nave aisles and porch were in place,
with tower and chancel to come when funds
could be found. It was constructed inside and
out largely of two sandstones from the Petit Tor
cliffs nearby, one red and one grey, in blocks of
varied size, randomly coursed. It was long, wide,
and low, with light almost entirely drawn from
wide windows, rising 10 feet from head height.
But this was reflected on eight enormous shafts
of highly polished local marble carrying the
nave arches, each constructed of five drums of
different hue and grain. For the evening services,
a gas bracket carrying 18 jets of white flame was
placed just above each column. A high cornice of
white freestone captured the illusion of a band
of light below the roof, whose open beams formed
a shallow bow, grazing the point above the cross
on the chancel arch, creating a striking tension
between mass and line. A cleverly columned,
pierced and inlaid font of Devon marbles -
sourced, cut and assembled by the neighbouring
Royal Marble Works - greeted you at the west
end, and an even more adventurous marble
pulpit, installed a year or two later, anchored the
view to the east with a playful model of a multi-
arcaded temple, dwelling on a Ruskinian play
of planes, voids and perspective.

Sooner than anticipated, Babbacombe and its
environs began to turn into a retirement suburb
for a now very prosperous Torquay; the church

Fig.1 William Butterfield, Marble Pavement. Plan
and side elevation for the floors of the chancel,
transepts and lower vestry of All Saints’ Church,
Babbacombe, 1872. RIBA Drawings Collection.

drew resident families of great wealth into its
circle; and a drive to build the chancel began.

The foundation stone was laid in September 1872,
and the new works consecrated in November
1873, when the tower too entered construction.
The shaping, construction materials and methods
for the chancel are the same but the large
footprint and rhapsodic treatment of the interior
have a richness that no one in 1865 could have
anticipated. Butterfield reconciles the lavish
chancel with the scrupulously economical fancies
of the earlier nave and aisles by making a decisive
division between the two halves of the church,

so that choir and sanctuary read, with their high,
light-coloured roofs, like a glowing grotto which
the plainer nave and aisles embrace by flowing
into the transepts that enfold it. Wide openings
to the transepts flank the choir with matching
cusped and moulded double arches, and the
sanctuary is walled in a film of marbles, with pairs
of high moulded windows above, glazed on the
south and filled with Salviati glass mosaics on

the north. Motifs from the nave are reiterated
throughout - in the marble and metal chancel
screen and gate, in the carving of the choir stalls,
in the sculpted walls, and within the brass lectern
and altar candlesticks, so that the extraordinary
variety of events is unified at every scale.

Butterfield had pioneered the revival of
decorated encaustic tile for paving churches
in the 1840s. At Babbacombe, he had used his
favoured red tiles with a little black, yellow and
blue to pave the nave and aisles, and proposed
the same for the transepts and vestry but chose
to pave the entire chancel from the dividing arch
eastward in an open mosaic of boldly cut marble.
The intended design appears on a surviving
sheet of the contract drawing set. The top of
the sheet, which would have shown a title and the
elevation of the pavement, perhaps with some
detail, is lost. The colours are a very approximate
code denoting the chosen marble on the list
tothe right. It is a working diagram for the cost
surveyor and builder to follow, rather than an
attempt to represent the finished work - the
blue and dun tones are especially remote from
the subtly different shades of grey they stand
for. While local marbles fill the rest of the church,
only one of the stones specified for the chancel
floor is described as a Devonshire marble (and
this is probably Ipplepen Red, from further into
Dartmoor, which Butterfield had long favoured
for decorative reliefs, columns and monuments);
the dove marble could have come from Petitor,
with Ashburton or Plymouth possibly the source
for the black eventually deployed, but no stone-
by-stone analysis of the finished work has | think
been undertaken.

While we cannot see the real colours, we
do see the overall segmented geometry very
clearly, the marked differences between pattern
and palette for each of the five rising sections,
the character and disposition of the motifs,
and the division of each into blocks by a rule of
3 or 5. The pavement has to cover a very large
space. Most parish chancels would be 18ft wide.
This is 24ft. The depth of the whole enclosure
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is 40ft - choir and sanctuary each 20ft. The
passage through the choir stalls is nearly 10ft
wide; the huge kneeling step with its three deep
red motifs permits communicants to rise and
leave through the gates of the transepts on either
side, and the busy step on which the altar party
move to administer communion is 8ft deep. It is
awonderfully efficient and comfortable disposition
of the stages upon which the performance of

the Eucharist will move. The approach is that of

a broad brush - the basic unit is a 10in. square;
and the eight large figures in the central sections
are in 4ft diamond frames. The shifts in palette,
scale and geometry match the sequence of the
chancel as a diminishing perspective, forms being
gradually compressed, like the action that creates
marble, as the sequence moves towards the
mystical transformation at the altar.

There are corrections all over the drawing,
probably made very close to the laying of the floor
at the close of construction, when it was possible
to adjust to effects of light and adjacency. Many
introduce a black marble that will dramatically
unite, structure and animate an otherwise flat
palette, sharpening the whites in the process.
The touches of green will mostly go, motifs will
be highlighted and refined, and a sort of fusion
into greys and reds will occur, bringing more
synchrony especially between the three sections
within the sanctuary and the highly coloured walls
around them. Gerard Manley Hopkins, whose eye
grew to see the suggestive beauty of uncertain
line that came from the ‘oddity’ throughout the
rest of the church, found the chancel pavement
disappointing, displaying an uncharacteristic
crudeness and naivety that seemed to come from
making a composite picture out of such large and
simply figured components. Perhaps he looked
too closely; for the pavement works best when

seen in use, as a matter of impression rather
than incident, and as episodes in a journey rather
than a general composition. Halsey Ricardo,
however, had no doubts, looking at Babbacombe
to remember how thoroughly Butterfield, who
was apprenticed in a builder’s yard, knew stones,
mingling them ‘with a lover’s fondness’ so that
each looks at ease, as if it had simply chosen to
settle beside its companions on the spot he found
for it.
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